RECEIVED

Aug 03 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001140
Civil Action No. 2018-CP-08-00817

Ronald L. Jones and Gayle Langley Jones, Thomas Huguenin Gaillard, as Trustee of The Thomas Huguenin Gaillard Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007, and Thomas W. Cone, Jr. as Trustee of The Thomas W. Cone, Jr. Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007, Respondents,

v.

Rogers Townsend & Thomas, P.C. Lisa Hostetler; Alexander C. Peabody; and Peabody & Associates, Inc., Defendants,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the circuit court erred in dismissing the Respondent Trustees, previously joined as involuntary plaintiffs, from this case.
 - a. In a suit where the plaintiff sues their closing attorney, alleging damages resulting from the defendant attorney's failure to disclose an easement across the plaintiff's property, whether the circuit court erred in failing to determine that Appellants, the lawyer defendants, have standing to challenge the validity of the dominant estate holders' (Trustees') purported easements.
 - b. Whether the circuit court erred in determining that the Trustees are not necessary parties for the just adjudication of this case.
 - c. Whether the circuit court's conflicting companion orders prevent just adjudication of this case and compliance with declaratory judgment law.
 - d. Whether the circuit court erred in applying the wrong standard and civil procedure rule to the Trustees' motion for "non-joinder."
 - e. Whether the circuit court erred in relying upon facts and allegations not in evidence in reaching her decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court pursuant to an amended Notice of Appeal filed by the law firm Rogers Townsend & Thomas, P.C. and attorney Lisa Hostetler ("Appellants") on July 12, 2019, seeking review of two trial court orders. (R. at 0558.) The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge, dismissed from this case two involuntary plaintiffs, Thomas Huguenin Gaillard, as Trustee of The Thomas Huguenin Gaillard Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007, and Thomas W. Cone, Jr. as Trustee of The Thomas W. Cone, Jr. Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007 ("Trustees" or "Respondents"), previously joined as parties to this action by The Honorable Perry M. Buckner. (R. at 0001.) Judge Jefferson granted the Trustees' "Motion for Nonjoinder" by Form 4 order on May 9, 2019 and denied Appellants' motion for reconsideration by written order on June 26, 2019. (R. at 0003; 0009.)

This suit began by summons and complaint filed in Berkeley County on May 4, 2018. (R. at 0013.) The plaintiffs were captioned as Ronald L. Jones and Gaye Langley Jones (“Plaintiff Jones”).¹ In her complaint, Plaintiff Jones sought damages from her closing attorney, her attorney’s firm, the property surveyor, and his business (collectively, “Defendants”), on the basis that they failed to disclose an easement on her property during closing. (*See* R. at 0019, ¶ 24.)

On June 12, 2019, Appellant Rogers Townsend filed a motion to join the Trustees to the suit, pursuant to Rule 19, SCRPC, on the basis that, as the owners of the dominant estate possessing the alleged easement, they are necessary to the determination of this case. (R. at 0055–60.) Following a hearing on the motion, the Trustees were added as involuntary plaintiffs by order of Judge Buckner, dated August 6, 2018. (R. at 0001.) On March 29, 2019, the Trustees filed a “Motion for Non-joinder,” arguing that they no longer had any interest in the case pursuant to a new recorded agreement which purportedly replaced the 2006 easement alleged in the complaint with a new one recorded March 22, 2019. (R. at 0061.) The Trustees argued that the replacement agreement cut off their interests in the prior easement and justified their removal from this suit. Judge Jefferson granted the Trustees’ motion on May 9, 2019. (R. at 0003.) Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration, or to alter or amend the order, on May 20, 2019. (R. at 0260.) Judge Jefferson declined to reconsider her ruling on June 26, 2019. (R. at 0009.) This appeal followed.

On August 21, 2019, the Trustees filed a motion to dismiss this appeal, arguing that it was premature and interlocutory. Following the submissions of memoranda, the Court denied the motion to dismiss on December 13, 2019.² The Appellants’ Brief follows.

¹ Mr. Jones previously quitclaimed his interest in the property to Ms. Jones in 2012 and she is the one actively participating in this suit. Thus, for the sake of simplicity, Ms. Jones is referred to as the singular plaintiff.

² Appellants reserve the right to address the arguments about the immediate appealability of Judge Jefferson’s orders in their reply brief if the Respondents choose to further press the issue. As,

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in this case should be the one applied when the lower court dismisses a party. The Trustees filed the motion at bar with a citation to Rule 21, SCRCP. Judge Jefferson's Form 4 Order also cites to Rule 21, which does facially concern nonjoinder. (R. at 0003.) Notably, "nonjoinder" is defined as the "failure to bring a person who is a necessary party into the lawsuit." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1154 (9th ed. 2009); *see also United States v. Scarboro*, 352 F. Supp. 2d 714, 717 (E.D. Va. 2005) ("Upon non-joinder, the Court can merely add the necessary party in the action."). Conversely, *disjoinder* is the "undoing of the joinder of parties or claims." *Black's Law Dictionary* at 536.

There is sparse case law in South Carolina addressing the standard of review of a ruling under Rule 21. *See Farmer v. CAGC Ins. Co.*, 424 S.C. 579, 585, 819 S.E.2d 142, 145 (Ct. App. 2018) (recognizing limited Rule 21 case law). This appears to be in part because the realignment of parties has not historically triggered much appellate review. *See Branham v. Ford Motor Co.*, 390 S.C. 203, 241–43, 701 S.E.2d 5, 25–26 (2010) (ruling for the first time that South Carolina trial judges may use Rule 21, like the Federal courts do, to realign parties).

Generally speaking, a ruling regarding joinder is subject to the trial court's discretion. *See Demian v. S.C. Health & Human Servs. Fin. Com.*, 297 S.C. 1, 5–7, 374 S.E.2d 510, 512–13 (Ct. App. 1988) (applying abuse of discretion standard to Rules 20 and 21); *Ex parte Gov't Emples. Ins. Co. v. Goethe*, 373 S.C. 132, 135, 644 S.E.2d 699, 701 (2007) (applying abuse of discretion standard to Rules 19 and 24). However, this appeal is about the dismissal or *disjoinder* of parties, not a realignment, nor a substitution, nor even a severance. The Trustees did not seek to change their position in the case, or to substitute other parties as more suitably or accurately named, but

however, it is Appellants' contention that this matter was properly appealable at the time this appeal was brought, the matter is not addressed in this brief where Appellants set forth the issues.

rather to remove themselves, and thereby *all* dominant estate-holders, from this easement-based case for substantive, not procedural, reasons.

Appellants contend that removing all dominant estate holders from an action based entirely on the validity of an easement is a radical decision, reaching much farther than the scope of Rule 21. This contention is supported by this Court’s ruling in the *Farmer* case in 2018. In that case, the Court reversed the trial court’s Rule 21 decision to remove a party from the case when that ruling was based on a novel issue of law and an incomplete factual record. *Farmer*, 424 S.C. at 586, 819 S.E.2d at 146. The Court held that the motion before the trial court was “no place for novelty.” *Id.* (citing *Evans v. State*, 344 S.C. 60, 68, 543 S.E.2d 547, 551 (2001)). In the case at bar no depositions had been taken.

This Court further held that even if the issue at bar is a procedural defense (rather than a novel legal question), that defense is still more properly heard under a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, not a Rule 21 motion. *See id.*, 424 S.C. at 587, 819 S.E.2d at 146. Appellants contend that this appeal concerns, at the very least, issues properly cognizable as a motion to dismiss, and at most a novel legal question about the possibility of adjudicating the validity of the Trustees’ purported easements without having them before the Court as the alleged dominant estate holders.

Under a traditional Rule 12(b)(6) review, the Court of Appeals “‘applies the same standard of review as the trial court.’” *Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enf’t Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.*

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 7, 2010, Plaintiff and her former spouse purchased the house and property at 145 Memes Way (“Lot 6B”), addressed in Charleston, South Carolina and located just inside the Berkeley County line. (R. at 0016, ¶ 9.) The property sits at the end of a semi-peninsular finger of land that runs along the edge of the salt marsh surrounding the Wando River. (R. at 0101.) Appellants served as the closing attorneys for Plaintiff Jones, while the Peabody Defendants completed the survey work. (See R. at 0017–18, ¶¶ 13, 19.) Plaintiff Jones’ lot is identified in register of deeds documents as “Lot 6B,” while the adjacent and slightly more inland, but still marsh-front, lot belonging to her neighbors, the Trustees, is called “Lot 6A.” (R. at 0101.)

Approximately five years after moving into the residence on the property Plaintiff Jones learned of an alleged easement on her lot held by the Trustees. (R. at 0017, ¶ 15.) The language giving rise to the alleged easement as described in the Complaint was included in the legal description of a title recorded in 2006.³ (R. 0017, ¶ 16.) The legal description in the 2006 deed provides:

EXCEPT: A 25’ Ingress/Egress Easement is hereby dedicated and given to all owners and successors of interest in Lot 6A (TMS # 263-00-03-068) as shown on the above-referenced plat, Lot 5 (No. 108 Cainhoy Landing Road, TMS # 263-00-05-005) as shown on the above-referenced plat, Lot 6 (No. 110 Cainhoy Landing Road, TMS #263-00-05-006), and Lot 7 (112 Cainhoy Landing Road, TMS # 263-00-05-007) as shown on a plat dated 9/1/86 by Carolina Surveying & Mapping,

³ The 2006 recording contained a legal description very similar to that of another title recorded in 2005, which also set forth easement language. Plaintiff Jones pleaded facts exclusively about the alleged 2006 easement in her complaint. (R. at 0015–0024.) For that reason, Appellants confine the discussion in this brief to the 2006 document, which is contained in the record for this case. (R. at 0095–0099.) The 2005 deed was not put before the circuit court. However, both the 2005 and 2006 deeds were included in the exhibits put before this Court during the briefing of the Trustee’s Motion to Dismiss, in order to clarify some discrepancies in the record. For instance, yet another deed related to the property, dated in 2007, was included by the Trustees in their briefing of the Motion to Dismiss (presumably in error). That deed is not relevant to the easement alleged by Plaintiff Jones in the complaint. Notably, the new agreement entered into by the Trustees and Plaintiff Jones in March 2019, by its terms, releases only the 2005 easement, not the 2006 duplicate. See footnote 5, *infra*.

William H. Dennis, RLS, and entitled “Plat of 45.02 Acres Known as Cainhoy Landing, Containing 30 Lots and Depicting As Built Locations of Roads and Easements Located in Berkeley County, South Carolina, as recorded in Plat Cabinet G, page 6, in the RMC Office for Berkeley County. This Easement shall begin on the Northern boundary of the Lot 6B at the point labeled D and extending one-half the way to the point labeled A as shown on the Plat entitled “PLAT SHOWING A SUBDIVISION OF LOT 6, “RIVERVIEW VILLAGE”, CREATING LOT 6A and 6B, SITUATED AS SHOWN ON ROAD S-8-33, IN WANDO, BERKELEY COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA PRESENTLY OWNED BY DAVID E. HACHEL AND JOSEPH BARTONE” and shall run down the sides of the Lot shown on said plat as going S 9° 22/10” W for 154.18’, and then continuing on Lines L1, L2, L3, L4, L5, L6, L7, L8, L9, L10, and L11. Therefore, the Easement will almost completely encircle the Lot 6B except for most of the Northern boundary of the Lot. This easement is given in perpetuity and is to run with the land.

(R. at 0098.) The subject property, Lot 6B, has a U-shape, where a good portion of the U is marsh front. The northern boundary of the property abuts Lot 6A. Thus, the language quoted above appears to intend that the owners of the neighboring lots were supposed to be able to traverse the marsh front edges of Lot 6B, or the U shaped portion of the property, while the northern boundary of the property, which adjoins Lot 6A, was excluded from the easement, with the exception of the edges where the U-shaped easement was to begin and end.

None of the other lot owners, aside from the Trustees, presently make a claim to the easement. (R. at 0020, ¶ 30.) The easement has never been tested in court, determined to be valid by a finder of fact, or determined to be in the proper chain of title for Lot 6B.⁴ Nonetheless,

⁴ There are numerous reasons why the lack of a court ruling on the validity of the easement is integral to this case, none of which have yet been addressed, given that this case is presently stayed in the discovery phase. For instance, if Plaintiff Jones has any valid defenses to the easement, she must mitigate her damages by asserting those defenses. Additionally, the easement must have been enforceable for it to have caused any damages to Plaintiff Jones. Further, if the easement was not recorded properly as part of the chain of title, Appellants would not have been the proximate cause of any harm to Plaintiff Jones. Moreover, if the dominant estate holders were not party to a ruling that the 2006 easement is not enforceable, they could continue to assert their claims against Plaintiff Jones, despite the Court’s judgment. This is only emphasized by the contention of Plaintiff Jones that neither she, nor the Trustees are subject to the Court’s ruling on the validity of the easement, as discussed *infra*.

Plaintiff Jones sued her closing attorneys and surveyors for damages caused by the alleged undisclosed easement. Plaintiff Jones did not name the Trustees as the alleged dominant estate holders in her suit, nor explicitly seek declaratory judgment as to the validity of the easement. (R. at 0015–24.)

Upon receipt of the suit, Appellants determined that the alleged dominant estate holders were necessary parties for the proper adjudication of the issue of the easement and for purposes of making binding whatever findings and conclusions were made by the court as to the enforceability of the easement. In order to prove the elements of professional negligence asserted against Appellants, Plaintiff Jones must necessarily establish the validity and enforceability of the Trustees’ purported easement supposedly causing harm to her. Such a holding is akin to a declaratory judgment, which naturally requires that all affected parties be named. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-80. Upon hearing Appellants’ Rule 19 motion, Judge Buckner made the Trustees involuntary plaintiffs in this suit. (R. at 0001.) That order has not been appealed.

Plaintiff Jones has resisted the joinder of the Trustees to the case at all stages. Before Judge Buckner, Plaintiff Jones’ counsel took the notable position that the Court has no place in determining the validity of a disputed easement, stating that there are “only two people who can make a determination as to whether or not an easement exists[, and that] is the dominant estate holder and the servient estate holder. And we both agree the same thing, we believe that the easement does exist.” (R. at 0503, ll. 18–23.) Upon the joinder of the Trustees, Appellants proceeded with the defense of the case by commencing with discovery.

Seven months after the joinder of the Trustees, a new document was recorded with the Berkeley County Registrar of Deeds on March 22, 2019 called “Access, Maintenance and Joint Dock Use Agreement.” (R. at 0067.) The Agreement purports to “terminate” the “Old Purported Easement” and establish a new one on Lot 6B, for the benefit of Lot 6A, as part of a larger plan to

build a joint dock extending from Lot 6B to the Wando River.⁵ (*See* R. at 0070, ¶ 6.) The Trustees contend that this agreement allows them to exit the case, since their interest in the 2006 easement has been terminated as of 2019. Prior to the filing of the March 2019 “new easement,” the parties agreed the Trustees would be deposed during the period of April 8–12, 2019. (R. at 0186.) After the filing of the new easement on March 22, 2019, the Trustees asked Appellants to consent to their dismissal and refused to appear at their scheduled depositions unless they were dismissed from the case. (R. at 0198.)

Appellants declined to voluntarily consent to the dismissal of the Trustees from the case, as a condition precedent set by their counsel for taking their depositions, believing that they remained necessary parties. (*See* R. at 0186.) The Trustees filed a motion seeking dismissal from the case captioned “Motion for Non-joinder.” (R. at 0061.) Concurrently, Appellants filed a motion to amend their answer to include a formal petition for declaratory judgment that included the Trustees, as the dominant estate holders and the ones allegedly causing Plaintiff Jones harm. (R. at 0082.) Notably, the Jones complaint has not been amended, and thus, must be construed to continue asserting the same facts. Plaintiff Jones continues to argue in the pleading that the new agreement was entered into under the threat created by the 2006 easement and continues to assert damages based on validity on the 2006 easement and the Trustees’ position regarding the same. (*See* R. at 0020, ¶¶ 31–32 (asserting that the Trustees will terminate the purported 2006 easement

⁵ The Trustees represented to the lower court that they had released the old purported easement from 2006 and that “there is no longer an easement that threatens either Rogers, Townsend and Thomas’ title insurer or threatens the Jones with anything.” (R. at 517, ll. 23–24.) This is not correct. The Agreement defines the Old Purported Easement as the one recorded in 2005, not the later duplicated recording from 2006 (the one alleged in the Jones complaint). (R. at 0068.) The Trustees later stipulated in a filing before this Court that they “remit, quitclaim, terminate, cancel and forever release” the purported 2006 easement as well. (Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Reply, p. 4, n.2.) However, this stipulation is not part of the chain of title as is the new agreement with the modified easement. Appellants continue to assert their rights to challenge the validity of the new agreement and its provisions, regardless of which easements it proposes to terminate and replace.

only in exchange for one of reduced size and scope, which continues to cause harm to Plaintiff); *see also* R. at 0534, ll. 4–6.)

Judge Jefferson heard the cross motions at the same time on May 7, 2019. Counsel for Plaintiff Jones, the Trustees, and Appellants appeared. (R. at 0510, ll. 1–22.) After argument, the circuit court granted Appellants’ motion to amend their answer to include a declaratory judgment action and granted the Trustees’ motion to be removed from the case. (R. at 0003–04; 0006.) Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration of, or to alter or amend, the order on the Trustees’ motion. Judge Jefferson denied that motion and this appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE PLAINTIFF TRUSTEES FROM THIS CASE.

By virtue of the circuit court’s appealed ruling, Appellants have been deprived of their right to defend against the allegations of the Plaintiff. The rights of the Trustees as dominant estate holders of their purported easement at the time Plaintiff Jones purchased Lot 6B (May 2010) must be determined before the rights of Plaintiff Jones can be determined. This is true because if the Trustees received no easement at all, Plaintiff Jones took the property unencumbered by the 2006 easement which is the subject of the case and the onus for the 2019 arrangement entered into by the Trustees and Plaintiff Jones. The Trustees are the source of this suit, yet the lower court refuses to keep them—the dominant estate holder of their purported easement—parties to this case, to which they must be joined for complete and binding relief to be granted.

a. The circuit court erred in failing to determine that Appellants have standing to challenge the validity of the Trustees’ purported easements.

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