IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No.: 2018-CP-08-00817
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001140

Ronald L. Jones and Gayle Langley Jones, Thomas Huguenin Gaillard, as Trustee of The Thomas Huguenin Gaillard Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007, and Thomas W. Cone, Jr., as Trustee of The Thomas W. Cone, Jr. Revocable Trust, Dated April 3, 2007, Respondents,

v.

Rogers Townsend & Thomas, P.C.; Lisa Hostetler; Alexander C. Peabody; and Peabody & Associates, Inc., Defendants,

Of Which Rogers Townsend & Thomas, P.C. and Lisa Hostetler are Appellants.

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

Plaintiffs’ counsel does not represent Trustees, and his arguments regarding standing were directed toward the viability of Appellants’ motion to amend, not Trustees’ Rule 21 motion. *See*

Transcript of May 7, 2019, 7:17-8:4; 24:6-9. Further, Judge Jefferson made it clear that the question of standing was for “another day.” Transcript, May 7, 2019, 7:24-25. While plainly skeptical of Appellants’ authority to nullify the terms of a private agreement between Plaintiffs and Trustees, Judge Jefferson acknowledged that Appellants could litigate the validity and effect of the undisclosed easement and challenge Plaintiffs’ claims of damages arising out of the Agreement. Transcript May 7, 2019, 27:18-28:13, 40:1-13.

Trustees’ motion to be released as parties was not based on Appellants’ lack of standing to challenge the undisclosed easement. *See* Motion for Nonjoinder, pp. 1-4. Judge Jefferson’s order dismissing Trustees’ from the case is not based on the issue of standing. *See* Form 4 Order Granting Motion for Nonjoinder, pp.1-2. At this stage in case, Appellants standing to attack Plaintiffs’ efforts to deal with the undisclosed easement or to challenge the terms of the Agreement between Plaintiffs and Trustees remain open questions. The circuit court properly disregarded Appellants’ demand that it rule on an issue that was not yet ripe for determination.

Appellants next contend that their rights under the Seventh and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution have somehow been compromised by “allowing Plaintiff Jones and Trustees to simply agree to the existence of the easement” and by allowing Plaintiffs to “jump directly” to damages with requiring proof of an attorney-client relationship, breach of duty, and proximate causation. Initial Brief, p. 11. This argument was neither raised by Appellants nor ruled on by the trial court in the proceedings below and has not been preserved for appeal. *See S.C. Dept. of Transp. V. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., supra*, 641 S.E.2d 907.

Appellant have no right to a jury trial under the Seventh Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. Unlike most of the provisions of the Bill of Rights, the Seventh Amendment of the has never been applied to the states. *See Walker v. Sauvinet*, 92 U.S. 90, 23 L.Ed. 678

(1875); *Minneapolis & St. Louis Railroad v. Bombolis*, 241 U.S. 211, 36 S.Ct. 595, 60 L.Ed. 961 (1916); and *Hardware Dealers' Mut. Fire Ins. Co. of Wisconsin v. Glidden Co.*, 284 U.S. 151, 52 S.Ct. 69, 76 L.Ed. 214 (1931). In South Carolina, the right to a jury trial is generally governed by the state constitution as well as by court rules and case precedent. *Mims Amusement v. Law Enforcement Div.*, 366 S.C. 141, 621 S.E.2d 344, 346-348 (2005). (The right to a trial by jury is guaranteed in every case in which the right to a jury was secured at the time of the adoption of the Constitution in 1868.)

As previously discussed, the terms of the easement, its existence in direct chain of title, Appellants' failure to disclose the easement, the materiality of the easement, Appellants' breach of the standard of care in handling the closing, and the foreseeability of injury from that breach, have all been admitted by Appellants in their answer. Complaint, ¶¶ 16-18, 24-27, 34-36; Answer, ¶¶ 10-13; 18-19. Nothing in the U.S. Constitution, the South Carolina Constitution, our court rules, or case precedent guarantees Appellants the right to a jury trial on factual and legal issues that have been conceded in the pleadings. Plaintiffs will still have to prove that Appellants' negligence caused their claimed injuries and damages, and the circuit court's decision to leave the issue of standing undecided at this stage of the litigation does not in any way alter Plaintiffs' burden of proof.

Appellants have not been denied their right to a jury trial. As previously discussed, Appellants standing, or lack thereof, was not a basis for the circuit court's decision to drop Trustees from the case. The court did not abuse its discretion in disregarding Appellants' demand for a ruling on an issue that has yet to be resolved in this case.

Next, Appellants accuse Trustees of colluding with Plaintiffs about the easement. Citing *Skipper v. ACE Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 413 S.C. 33, 775 S.E.2d 37 (2015) Appellants argue:

That is, if we consider Trustees the “plaintiffs” who seek to enforce an allegedly undisclosed easement against “defendant” Jones, while Jones is willing stipulate to the enforceability of the purported easement in order to gain damages from her closing attorneys, the fact pattern is eerily similar.

Initial Brief, p., 12. The fact pattern of the personal injury litigation in *Skipper* is not remotely similar to the facts and circumstances of this transactional malpractice case. Trustees have not sued Plaintiffs over the easement. *See id.*, 413 S.C. 35, 775 S.E.2d 37-38. There is no multimillion dollar confession of judgment by Plaintiffs admitting liability to Trustees for their damages. *Id.* There has been no assignment of Plaintiffs’ malpractice claim to Trustees in exchange for a covenant not to execute against the non-existent confession of judgment. *Id.* Appellants’ “eerily similar fact pattern” has no basis whatsoever in fact.

Appellants attempt to rationalize their baseless conspiracy theory:

Appellants can conceive of no other reason why Plaintiff Jones would not allow Appellants to challenge Trustees purported easement based on its numerous defects, and thus clear the land of the encumbrance.

Initial Brief, p. 12. Trustees do not speak for Plaintiffs, but the obvious response is that Appellants already have done enough damage. Plaintiffs retained legal counsel and, based on their attorney’s advice, believe the easement to be valid. Plaintiffs have moved forward and resolved any potential issues that might arise out of undisclosed easement with their neighbors. Appellants’ refuse to accept responsibility for their negligence and blame Plaintiffs and Trustees for the consequences. Appellants’ fixation on Trustees has completely sidetracked this litigation. It is therefore difficult to conceive of any reason why Plaintiffs would want to side with Appellants.

Appellants’ baseless conspiracy theory provides no support for their claim that the circuit court abused its discretion in declining to rule on the issue of standing. The Court should affirm the circuit court’s ruling dismissing Trustees from the case as involuntary plaintiffs.

B. Trustees are not Necessary to Accord Complete Relief to the Parties or Avoid Duplicative Litigation.

Appellants assert that “the predicate issue that must be proved by Plaintiff to establish her case is whether there is or was a valid and enforceable easement owned by Trustees.” Initial Brief, p. 13. Appellants repeat this claim throughout their brief. *See, e.g.*, Appellants’ Initial Brief, p. 6, fn.4, pp. 7, 13, 14, and 20. This argument—that Plaintiffs have the burden of establishing that the easement was valid and enforceable—was neither raised by Appellants nor ruled on by the trial court in the proceedings below and has not been preserved for appeal. *See S.C. Dept. of Transp. V. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., supra*, 641 S.E.2d 907. Rather, in Appellants’ written motion to add a party, and during the hearings on Appellants’ Rule 19(a) motion to add a party and on Trustees’ Rule 21 motion seeking to be dismissed, Appellants argued the validity/enforceability issue was necessary *to their defense and to their claim for declaratory relief*. *See Answer*, ¶¶ 46-75; Transcript, August 6, 2018, 6:4-12, 7:17-20; Transcript, May 7, 2019, 19:13-20:17, 34:23-35:25, 40:9-15.

Appellants offer no support for their proposition that the validity of an easement must be established as a prerequisite for Plaintiffs to prevail on their claim of transactional malpractice. “Where a deed is valid and regular on its face, it is presumed to be valid in all respects.” *Davis v. Monteith*, 289 S.C. 176, 182, 345 S.E.2d 724, 727 (1986). “A grant of an easement is to be construed in accordance with the rules applied to deeds and other written instruments.” *K & A Acquisition Group, LLC v. Island Pointe, LLC*, 383 S.C. 563, 581, 682 S.E.2d 252, 262 (2009) (internal quotation omitted). The deeds in Plaintiffs’ title and the easement reserved in those deed are presumed valid.

Appellants have admitted that they breached their duty to act with due care in handling the closing and that it was foreseeable Plaintiffs would suffer injury if they failed to meet that standard

of care. Complaint, ¶¶ 16-18, 24-27, 34-36; Answer, ¶¶ 10-13; 18-19. Had Appellants done their job, they would have been able to explain the nature and effect of the easement to Plaintiffs. Equipped with an understanding of the encumbrance, Plaintiffs might have terminated of the contract, sought a reduction in price or other concessions, or made an informed decision to proceed with the closing according to the originally agreed terms. Appellants' admitted breach of duty denied Plaintiffs any choice in the matter and left them to deal a surprise easement as best they could.

While proof of a valid and enforceable easement would likely enhance Plaintiffs' damages claim, whether the undisclosed easement "exists" and caused Plaintiffs' damages are Appellants' defenses. *See* Answer, ¶¶ 46-60; Transcript, August 6, 2018, 6:4-12. The existence of an easement and proximate cause are questions of fact for the jury. *See Jowers v. Hornsby*, 292 S.C. 549, 357 S.E.2d 710, 711 (1987); *Hurd v. Williamsburg County*, 363 S.C. 421, 611 S.E.2d 488, 492, (2005). As previously stated, Appellants bear the burden of proving their affirmative defenses. *Provident Life and Acc. Ins. Co. v. Driver, supra*, 317 S.C. at 451, S.E.2d at 929.

As for Trustees, they have no interest in whether Plaintiffs are able to establish any injury or damages resulting from Appellants failure to disclose the easement. It does not matter to them whether or not the undisclosed easement is proven valid or enforceable.

Appellants complain that Plaintiffs argue "on the same side as Trustees instead of against them, which would be in [their] interests." Brief, p. 13. Appellants might prevail on the invalidity of the easement, but they might not—an outcome that Appellants consistently choose to ignore. Had Plaintiffs adopted Appellants' position, sued Trustees, and lost on the easement's validity, they would be stuck with a 25-foot wide easement encircling their property and a ruined

relationship with their neighbors. It was in Plaintiffs' interest to manage their risk and reasonably resolve the easement with their neighbors.

Appellants inaccurately assert that Plaintiffs entry into the Agreement "further entrenched the questionable easement owned by Trustees." Initial Brief, p 13. Plaintiffs have mitigated their damages. The Agreement terminated the undisclosed easement, created a new, less extensive easement, and provides a comprehensive framework to manage the encumbrance. Motion for Nonjoinder, Exhibit A. The terms of the new easement are in no way contingent on a "questionable easement" or on the outcome of this litigation. See Motion for Nonjoinder, Exhibit A.

Appellants circle back to their earlier contention:

If, as Appellants believe, Plaintiff could not prove the existence of an enforceable easement, it follows the dominant estate holders must be parties to the court's determination so that they may be bound. Otherwise, the issue may be subject to contradictory rulings and multiple adjudications.

Initial Brief, p. 13. Appellants misstate the preconditions for joinder under Rule 19(a), SCRPC.

It is not merely that "the issue *may* be subject to contradictory rulings and multiple adjudications."

Initial Brief, 13 (emphasis added). Rather, Rule 19(a) requires that a person be joined if:

- (1) in his absence, complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or
- (2) he *claims* an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any persons already parties subject to a *substantial risk* of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations *by reason of his claimed interest*.

Rule 19(a), SCRPC (emphasis added). Appellants' bare statement that "the issue may be subject to contradictory rulings and multiple adjudications" fails to establish that Appellants or Plaintiffs "are subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations *by reason of Trustees' claimed interest*. Rule 19(a)(2)(ii), (emphasis added). "The key is whether

the possibility of being subject to multiple obligations is real; an unsubstantiated or speculative risk will not satisfy the Rule 19(a) criteria.” *N. Arapaho Tribe v. Harnsberger*, 697 F.3d 1272, 1280 (10th Cir. 2012) (quoting 7 Wright, Miller & Kane, *Federal Practice & Procedure* § 1604, (2d ed.1986)).

Trustees do not claim any interest relating to the *subject* of the action—i.e., Plaintiffs’ malpractice claim for damages based on Appellants’ failure to disclose an easement. *See* Rule 19(a)(2). Trustees claim no interest in the undisclosed easement. *See* Motion for Nonjoinder, Exhibit A, ¶ 6. Appellants’ conjecture as to what might happen fails to establish that Trustees are necessary to accord complete relief to the parties or avoid duplicative litigation.

1. Trustees Are No Longer the Dominant Estate Holders of the Undisclosed Easement.

Despite all of the foregoing, Appellants steadfastly maintain that “Trustees are the dominant estate holder for the 2006 purported easement asserted by Plaintiffs.” Initial Brief, p. 14. Based on this, Appellants conclude:

Because there must be a valid, and not merely purported, easement before the closing attorney may be held liable for not disclosing it, the core issue in this case bears directly on Trustees’ interests, per Rule 19.

Initial Brief, 14. Again, Appellants cite no authority for their claim that an easement must be proven valid before a closing attorney can be held liable for failing to disclose it. Appellants’ conclusion that the “core issue in this case bears directly on Trustees’ interests” is, as just discussed, not the standard under Rule 19(a)(1) and (2), SCRCF.

Appellants contend that complete relief—“the ability to reach finality as to the rights and issues to be determined in the case cannot be afforded unless the parties whose interests are most central to Plaintiff’s burden of proof are joined and bound by the court’s rulings.” Initial Brief, p. 15. Trustees have no interest in or “central to” Plaintiffs’ burden of proof in this legal malpractice

action. Trustees are bound by their recorded disclaimer of any interest in the undisclosed easement. *See* Motion for Nonjoinder, Exhibit A, ¶ 6. Trustees participation in the case as parties will not make the undisclosed easement any more or any less valid. Plaintiffs' malpractice claim against Appellants will be resolved regardless of which party prevails on the issue of validity. The Agreement between Plaintiffs and Trustees has resolved the possibility of any dispute between them over the undisclosed easement. Trustees have no claim against Appellants for their failure to disclose the easement. Appellants have no legitimate claim whatsoever against Trustees. Trustees' absence from this case in no way denies Plaintiffs or Appellants complete relief in this case. The rights and issues in this case can be fully and finally determined without Trustees as parties.

Citing the "similar reasoning" of *Home Buyers Warranty Corp. v. Hanna*, 750 F.3d 427 (4th Cir. 2014) and *Bancohio Nat'l Bank v. Neville*, 310 S.C. 323, 426 S.E.2d 773 (1993), Appellants assert that Trustees must remain in the case because "there are legal documents which must be reviewed for validity and enforceability," and "a property right at issue that must be decided on the basis of those documents, as well as the conduct of the parties." Initial Brief, p. 16. Neither case was cited by Appellants in the proceedings below. The holdings of these cases and their applicability to the issues in this action were not raised to or ruled on by circuit court and have not been preserved for appeal. *See S.C. Dept. of Transp. V. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 295, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907.

Home Buyers Warranty Corp. v. Hanna involved Hanna's state court claim alleging home construction defects against numerous defendants including Home Buyers Warranty Corporation, which issued a warranty on Hanna's home. *Home Buyers Warranty Corp. v. Hanna*, 750 F.3d at 430. Home Buyers filed a petition in federal court to compel Hanna to arbitrate under the terms

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